RECEIVED

Feb 05 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Thomas W. McGee III, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-001912
Civil Action No. 2024-CP-32-03591

Limitless International Corp.,Respondent,

v.

RECO Commercial Systems, LLC f/k/a RECO USA and Dunbar Road LLC, Appellants.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Carmelo B. Sammataro (SC Bar No. 69746)
Turner Padgett Graham & Laney, P.A.
Post Office Box 1473
Columbia, SC 29202
Phone: (803) 254-2200
Fax: (803) 799-3957
SSammataro@TurnerPadgett.com

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANTS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHERE GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT EXIST REGARDING THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES PURSUANT TO THE DECEMBER 29, 2021 ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT?**

- II. EVEN IF THE APA COULD BE READ TO TRANSFER “SALE ORDERS,” WAS SUMMARY JUDGMENT IMPROPER BECAUSE FACTUAL ISSUES EXIST AS TO CANCELLATION, GOVERNING TERMS, AND WHETHER ANY “SALES ORDER” EXISTED AT CLOSING?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This dispute centers on the rights and obligations between Respondent Limitless International Corp. (“Limitless”) and non-party American Investors d/b/a RECO USA¹ (“Seller”) and whether RECO Commercial Systems, LLC (“RECO Commercial Systems”) and Dunbar Road LLC (“Dunbar”, collectively “Appellants”) assumed liability for refunding a purchase deposit paid by Limitless to Seller in May of 2019 in connection with a purchase order it initiated with Seller (the “Purchase Order”). The answer to that question involves disputed facts regarding cancellation of that Purchase Order as well as the construction of the Asset Purchase Agreement entered into on December 29, 2021, between Seller and Appellants (the “APA”).

The APA is in evidence in this proceeding, and taken as a whole, is largely dispositive of this conflict. The trial court, however, failed to take into account the entire document. Rather, the trial court ruled on the arguments of Plaintiff and one line in a portion of the APA that described “Purchase Assets.” Disregarding a spate of conflicting evidence surrounding the purchase deposit, cancellation of the foregoing Purchase Order by Limitless, and the full spectrum of Appellants’ rights and obligations under the APA, the trial court granted summary judgment in favor of Limitless. The court’s ruling presumably rests on the bases that Appellants assumed the liabilities of the Seller associated with the Purchase Order and are responsible for refunding Limitless the balance of the deposit after set-off (based on Seller’s settlement with Limitless) in the amount of \$49,539.95, thereby focusing only on the provisions in the APA which are most favorable to Limitless and disregarding all others. This was error, and the order below should be reversed.

¹ Although the APA defines Seller as only American Investors, LLC, the recitals acknowledge that Seller is commonly marketed and referred to as RECO USA (APA Recitals, p. 1).

Limitless initiated these proceedings with the filing of its Summons and Complaint in the South Carolina Court of Common Pleas for Lexington County on or about August 27, 2024, naming (incorrectly) Appellant RECO Commercial Systems as f/k/a RECO USA², Appellant Dunbar Road LLC, as well as American Investors, LLC f/k/a RECO USA³, and Michael D. Schleinkofer, and James C. Foster, Jr., the principals of Seller.⁴ In its Complaint, Limitless asserts causes of action for breach of contract, unjust enrichment, conversion, breach of constructive trust, promissory estoppel, and violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 39-5-10, *et seq.* Limitless further alleges it is entitled to a refund of the down payment it paid to the Seller in 2019 in the amount of \$94,144.37 (the “Deposit”), along with other unspecified monetary damages. (Pl.’s Compl.)

Appellants moved to dismiss Plaintiff’s Complaint on the bases that they were not, nor have they ever been, formerly known as RECO USA, and they have never existed as successor entities to RECO USA or Seller. Further, Appellants argue they were never a party to a contract with Limitless, and they assumed no legal obligations to Limitless in connection with the APA.

² In its Complaint, Plaintiff Limitless mischaracterizes RECO Commercial Systems as f/k/a RECO USA. Pursuant to the APA, RECO USA is only a trademark assigned to RECO Commercial Systems, a separate legal entity, at closing. The f/k/a designation is misleading as it is a designation typically associated only with a wholesale purchase by RECO Commercial Systems of all liabilities and assets of the Seller via a purchase of Seller’s membership interests.

³ It is unclear why Plaintiff named America Investors, LLC as f/k/a RECO USA. The Sales Agreement between Seller and Plaintiff shows Seller as having a d/b/a of RECO USA not the f/k/a designation. The only other possible intention for the f/k/a designation is that the Seller sold the trademark RECO USA to Appellants and at the time of the pleadings, was no longer able to use that d/b/a.

⁴ Limitless presumably recognized that Seller and its principals were the parties actually responsible for return of its purchase order deposit and named them as parties to this suit. It later settled with American Investors, LLC, Michael D. Schleinkofer, and James C. Foster, Jr. for \$50,000. (Stipulation of Dismissal) The fact of that settlement is wholly inconsistent with the argument that Appellants bought the entire liability for the return of the full Deposit.

(Mot. to Dismiss) In its November 5, 2024 Order Denying Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss, the trial court denied the motion *because it recognized a disagreement among the parties regarding the contours of Appellants’ Asset Purchase Agreement and how the money at issue in these proceedings should be characterized.* (Order Denying Def.s’ Mot. to Dismiss, p. 2) Thereafter, Appellants filed a motion for reconsideration of the order denying their motion to dismiss. (Def.s’ Mot. to Reconsider)

Prior to the issuance of a ruling on Appellants’ motion for rehearing⁵, and prior to the close of discovery, Limitless moved for summary judgment, arguing that Appellants essentially acquired all the assets and liabilities of Seller, including Seller’s liability to fulfill its contract with Limitless or return the down payment paid to it by Limitless. (Pl.’s Mot. for Summ. J.) The court granted that motion via Order entered August 21, 2025, and denied Appellants’ motion to alter or amend via Form 4 Order entered September 11, 2025. (August 21, 2025 Order; September 11, 2025 Form 4 Order) This appeal followed.

FACTS

Limitless International Corp. entered into a Representative’s Sales Agreement (“the Sales Agreement”) with American Investors L.L.C. d/b/a RECO USA⁶, a Virginia Corporation (“Company” aka “Seller” herein) on or about October 1, 2012. (Mot. to Dismiss, Ex. A) According

⁵ Appellants filed their motion to dismiss September 12, 2014 (Def.s’ Mot. to Dismiss), and Circuit Judge Keesley denied that motion via Order entered November 5, 2024. (Order Denying Def.s’ Mot. to Dismiss) Respondents filed a motion to reconsider Circuit Judge Keesley’s order November 15, 2024. (Def.s’ Mot. to Reconsider) It does not appear from the record that the motion to reconsider was ever granted, denied, withdrawn, or otherwise disposed of. As such, it was premature for the trial court to proceed with the disposition of Plaintiff’s motion for summary judgment.

⁶ In the Sales Agreement, Seller is characterized as doing business as RECO USA, a proper characterization and consistent with the APA and Appellants’ arguments herein.

to the Sales Agreement, Company was “engaged in the manufacture and sale of Heat Transfer and similar mechanical equipment.” (*Id.*, p. 1) The Sales Agreement provided Limitless “the non-exclusive right to solicit orders” within a specified territory. (*Id.*) Limitless agreed to, among other things, “abide by all instructions, policies, and procedures established by Company. . . for the collection of down payments and other payments. . . .” (*Id.*, p. 2) Limitless was contractually barred from assigning the Sales Agreement without prior written consent, and the Sales Agreement continued in effect until terminated by one of the parties. (*Id.*, pp. 2-3)

Limitless submitted its Purchase Order, dated May 31, 2018, to Company for nine Quick Recovery Thermomaster storage heaters with a total purchase price of \$376,577.47 and a required down payment of \$94,144.37. (June 23, 2025 Newbauer Aff., para. 4; Aff. Ex. B) On December 8, 2020, the President and CEO of Limitless, Mohammad Alkarmi, delivered an email message to Company noting that the project had been placed on hold in light of the COVID 19 pandemic. Going further, Mr. Alkarmi requested that Company “please consider this order CANCELLED and we demand the 25% Down Payment that was paid to you last year . . . be returned back to us. . . . Kindly note that this cancellation is totally beyond our control as this is a Force Majeure due to the COVID-19 Pandemic.” (Aff. para. 7; Aff. Ex. C) (emphasis in the original) Thereafter, on December 9, 2020, Mr. Alkarmi sent an email message to Company personnel memorializing the intention of Limitless to “disregard these invoices⁷. . . . [and to] keep you posted if we hear anything form [sic] the client regarding this Purchase Order.” (Aff. at para. 6; Aff. Ex. C)

Nearly a year later, on November 1, 2021, Appellant RECO Commercial Systems was created as a South Carolina limited liability company. (June 23, 2025 Newbauer Aff. para. 8; Aff.

⁷ Presumably Company sent invoices to Limitless prior to the December 9, 2020 e-mail for the fulfillment of (or expenses related to) the Purchase Order.

Ex. D) On December 6, 2021, RECO Commercial Systems and Dunbar created separate checking accounts with Truist Bank to facilitate planned operations for and with RECO Commercial Systems. (*Id.*, para. 9) Finally, on December 29, 2021, and more than a year after Mr. Alkarmi ostensibly canceled his company's Purchase Order with Seller, Appellants entered into the APA, which was a limited transaction involving the purchase of only limited assets and the assumption of only limited liabilities owed by Seller. By its terms, the APA did not involve the assumption of liabilities or obligations relating to adverse claims, including demands for refunds due related to orders placed with, or deposit funds received by, Seller, including the Purchase Order at issue in this appeal. (*Id.*, para. 10; Aff. Ex. E; APA Section 1.1)

LEGAL STANDARD

Appellate courts reviewing summary judgment employ the same standard as the circuit court. *Isaac v. Onions*, ___ S.C. ___, 915 S.E.2d 492, 496 (2025), citing *Braden's Folly, LLC v. City of Folly Beach*, 439 S.C. 171, 190, 886 S.E.2d 674, 684 (2023). That standard is established by Rule 56(c) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, which allows for summary judgment "if the [evidence before the court] show[s] that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." *See also Kitchen Planners, LLC v. Friedman*, 440 S.C. 456, 463, 892 S.E.2d 297, 301 (2023) (holding "that the 'mere scintilla' standard does not apply under Rule 56(c). Rather, the proper standard is the 'genuine issue of material fact' standard set forth in the text of the Rule.")

As our appellate courts have noted, "[s]ummary judgment is a drastic remedy that should be cautiously invoked in order not to improperly deprive a litigant of a trial of the disputed factual issues." *HK New Plan Exchange Property Owner I, LLC v. Coker*, 375 S.C. 18, 22, 649 S.E.2d 181, 183 (Ct. App. 2007) (citation omitted). Even where evidentiary facts are not disputed,

summary judgment should be denied where the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from undisputed facts are in conflict. *Id.*, citing *Baugus v. Wessinger*, 303 S.C. 412, 415, 401 S.E.2d 169, 171 (1991). Furthermore, summary judgment is inappropriate “when further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of law.” *HK New Plan*, 375 S.C. at 22, 649 S.E.2d at 183, quoting *Tupper v. Dorchester County*, 326 S.C. 318, 325, 487 S.E.2d 187, 191 (1997). In reviewing an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court will review all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Marlowe v. South Carolina Department of Transportation*, 446 S.C. 309, 919 S.E.2d 553 (2025) (citations omitted).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The circuit court’s summary judgment order should be reversed because the record, viewed in the light most favorable to Appellants, presents genuine issues of material fact and because the order rests on an improper, piecemeal reading of the parties’ Asset Purchase Agreement (“APA”).

First, the APA does not establish as a matter of law that Appellants assumed Seller’s alleged obligation to refund Limitless’ deposit. The circuit court relied on isolated “Purchased Assets” language while disregarding the APA’s integrated framework distinguishing Purchased Assets, Excluded Assets, Assumed Liabilities, and Excluded Liabilities, as well as the schedule-based limitations on assumed obligations.

Second, summary judgment was improper because material factual disputes exist regarding the underlying Purchase Order and deposit. The record includes a contemporaneous December 2020 email from Limitless cancelling the order and demanding return of the down payment, which conflicts with later assertions that the order was never cancelled. These competing versions of core facts create credibility and inference issues that cannot be resolved on summary judgment.

Third, the record is incomplete on contract terms that bear directly on refund entitlement and any offsets. The quotation documents reflect that the transaction was conditioned on RECO USA's Standard Terms and Conditions of Sale, which are not in the record. Without those terms and related factual development, the court could not determine as a matter of law whether and the extent to which Limitless may be entitled to the refund awarded.

For these reasons, the summary judgment order should be reversed and the case remanded for further proceedings.

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in granting summary judgment given the existence of multiple genuine issues of material fact, as well as the inferences to be drawn therefrom, that are central to resolving the sole dispute in this case: whether Appellants are liable for refunding the down payment/deposit paid by Limitless to Seller in connection with a Purchase Order that Limitless canceled more than a year prior to both the formation of RECO Commercial Systems or Dunbar and the execution of the APA by the Appellants and Seller.

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT EXIST REGARDING THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES PURSUANT TO THE DECEMBER 29, 2021 ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT.

The "cardinal rule" of contract construction is to ascertain and give effect to the intention of the parties as evidenced by the contract language. *McGill v. Moore*, 381 S.C. 179, 185, 672 S.E.2d 571, 574 (2009) (citation omitted). In furtherance of that rule, the "contract is read as a whole document so that one may not create an ambiguity by pointing out a single sentence or clause." *Id.* (citation omitted) The order below conflicts with these principles because it effectively treats one phrase in the "Purchased Assets" definition as dispositive while disregarding the APA's

“Assumed Liabilities,” “Excluded Liabilities,” and schedule-based limitations. Having disregarded these rules of construction, the order below should be reversed, and this matter remanded for further proceedings.

The intention of the parties is evidenced by the entire December 29, 2021 APA for the acquisition of certain assets from American Investors, LLC as “Seller” and RECO Commercial Systems and Dunbar Road as “Purchaser.”⁸ The APA addresses four buckets of assets and liabilities being sold and purchased (or excluded therefrom): Purchased Assets⁹, Excluded Assets, Assumed Liabilities, and Excluded Liabilities, each as defined in the APA, but all of which were interrelated. The lower court order granting summary judgment focused on just one bucket: Purchased Assets. In doing so, the lower court found, without contextual support, and in violation of the rules of contract construction, that Appellants “purchased the assets of Seller, including the [Respondent’s] deposit and sales order under the Asset Purchase Agreement entered into between American and the [Appellants].” (August 21, 2025 Order, p. 4). However, despite the trial court’s sole focus on the language of the APA regarding the purchase of deposits and sales orders, questions of fact as to what the APA actually transferred and what liabilities it excluded predominate this conflict, making the grant of summary judgment in this case inappropriate and reversible error.

⁸ While both RECO Commercial Systems and Dunbar Road are purchasers under the APA, Dunbar Road was only included in the APA as the purchaser of the real property of Seller, while RECO Commercial Systems was the purchaser of the personal property assets of Seller.

⁹ Although Purchased Assets included the trademark “RECO USA”, there was no assumption of all the liabilities of Seller merely because RECO Commercial Systems purchased and used, subsequent to closing, the trademark, a distinction wholly ignored by the trial court. (*See* APA, Section 3.11 and Schedule 3.11(b))

The APA was a negotiated transaction involving the purchase of certain assets, the exclusion of other assets and the assumption of only very limited liabilities. The allocation of assets and liabilities in the APA requires a complete reading of the entire document, including relevant Schedules. Section 1.1 of the APA is a broad statement of intent, but it is not dispositive of the entire purchase transaction. The express language of Section 1.1 makes it [“s]ubject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement:

Subject to the terms and condition of [the APA], and in reliance upon the representations and warranties contained herein, at the Closing (as defined below) the Purchaser (Appellants) shall purchase from the Sellers, and the Seller shall sell, convey, transfer, assign and deliver to the Purchaser, *free and clear of all liens, security interests, mortgages, encumbrances, adverse claims and restrictions of every kind (collectively “Liens”)*, all of Sellers assets and properties of every kind, *other than the Excluded Assets* (collectively, the “Purchased Assets”), including without limitation the following: (a) **unrestricted cash and cash equivalents in an amount equal to \$0 (the “Acquired Cash”).**

(APA, p. 1, § 1.1-1.1(a)) (emphasis added) In reviewing the APA, and relying exclusively on arguments from counsel for Limitless, the lower court mistakenly determined that the canceled Purchase Order and the Limitless Deposit were transferred at closing as assets rather than liabilities. This characterization clearly is in factual dispute, making summary judgment inappropriate. Once Limitless demanded cancellation and a return of the deposit in December 2020, any “deposit” ceased to function as a transferable “asset” in the ordinary course and instead became an adverse claim and potential refund obligation (i.e., a liability) unless expressly assumed. Basing its conclusion that focused on *a single line* in the Purchased Assets definition, the lower court determined that Limitless is “entitled to get that back from whoever he ordered it with. And if your folks bought the assets and liabilities¹⁰ of that company, then they got to pay it back.” (June

¹⁰ This quote from the trial court conflates assets and liabilities and the treatment of each in the APA, assigning to Appellants a liability that was *not* assumed.

24, 2025 Hr'g Trans. p. 9, lines 5-7) Going further, the trial court observed “[i]f your client’s got it, then they owe it. If they didn’t, and it’s excluded then that’s a different story.” (*Id.*, p. 11, lines 21-23) The correct answer to this question is clear in the APA, which was in evidence, and the court acknowledged as much. (*Id.*, p. 14, line 14) (“Yeah, I’ve got it right in front of me.”); p. 22, lines 2-3 (“It may be in what’s before me. I just don’t know.”)

Contrary to the lower court’s legal conclusions that Appellants bought both the assets and all the liabilities of the Seller comprising and associated with the Purchase Order, and that Appellants had possession of the deposit, the APA contains language which supports contrary conclusions. For example, pursuant to the APA, Appellants only purchased limited liabilities of the Seller, and in particular, they did not buy the liabilities associated with the Purchase Order, including the return of a deposit it never received.

Section 1.1 of the APA clearly provides that the purchase of Purchased Assets should be qualified by the other terms and conditions of the APA, including specified limitations on the scope of the purchase. Section 1.1 of the APA defines “Purchased Assets” broadly to include, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, ...“all sale orders, customer orders, open bids, warranties, prepaid expenses, deposits, retentions and refunds,” along with accounts receivable, inventory, equipment, intellectual property, books and records, and other operating assets. (APA, p. 2, § 1.1(i)) The language of Section 1.2, Excluded Assets, however, makes clear that Purchased Assets “shall **not** include however, the following assets of the Seller”...“all cash and cash equivalents” other than “Acquired Cash” which was listed as \$0.00 (APA Section 1.2(a)). In a somewhat awkwardly worded exclusion, Section 1.1(a) includes a negative in the definition of Purchased Assets. Acquired Cash is listed therein, but given a value of \$0.00. (APA Section 1.1(a)) Thus, even accepting that “deposits” appear in the Purchased Assets list, the APA

simultaneously confirms that no cash (and no cash equivalents) were conveyed at closing. The trial court could not assume without evidentiary support that Limitless' deposit cash was transferred to Appellants, or that Appellants "had" the deposit to refund.

Further, Section 1.3 of the APA, describes Assumed Liabilities also as "subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement." The list of Assumed Liabilities in subparagraphs (a) through (c) are limited and specific. Assumed contract liabilities are expressly limited to the Assigned Contracts listed on Schedule 1.3(a)¹¹ None of the Assigned Contracts include the Limitless Purchase Order. Moreover, the APA makes it clear that contractual liabilities, even under Assigned Contracts, are limited. Section 1.3(a) states as follows: "it being understood that the *Purchaser is not assuming and shall not be liable for any liabilities or obligations under such Assigned Contracts to the extent the same should have been paid, performed or otherwise discharged on or prior to the Closing Date or to the extent the same arise out of any breach or default by the Seller or any of its Affiliates prior to or as of the Closing Date.*" (APA, p. 3, § 1.3(a) (emphasis added)) This limitation is dispositive for summary judgment purposes: the alleged refund obligation (if any) arose from pre-closing events (i.e., Limitless' 2020 cancellation and demand) and therefore is not within the limited assumed obligations, even for contracts that were actually

¹¹ Schedule 1.3(a), Assigned Contracts, expressly lists nine agreements between the Seller (RECO USA) and third parties: (1) an "unwritten agreement" with Charles Metts for office cleaning; (2) a Product Sales Agreement with American Welding & Gas, Inc.; (3) a Service Agreement with Modern Exterminating Company; (4) a Membership Agreement with Heat Transfer Research, Inc. (and Addendum); (5) a Proposal involving NaturChem; (6) a Lease Agreement with Richoh USA, Inc.; (7) a Rental Agreement with Optimum Water Solutions, Inc. (8) a Fire Protection Services Agreement with Cintas Corporation No. 2 d/b/a Cintas Fire Protection; and (9) a Lease Agreement with Norfolk Southern Railway Company. Schedule 3.8, Material Contracts, sets forth the same listing. Schedules 1.3(a) and 3.8 are devoid of *any* reference to an agreement or contract with Limitless International Corporation. This calls to mind the legal maxim *expressio unius est exclusio alterius*, or the express mention of one thing excludes all others.

assigned.

Removing any doubt regarding Appellants' obligations for Seller's liabilities, Section 1.4 of the APA entitled Excluded Liabilities provides that, "Except for the Assumed Liabilities, the Purchaser (Appellants) *shall not assume or in any way be responsible for any other obligations or liabilities of the Seller (whether or not disclosed) of any kind.*" (APA, p. 3, § 1.4) (emphasis added)

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