RECEIVED

May 04 2026

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Thomas William McGee III, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2025-001912
Civil Action No.: 2024-CP-32-03591

Limitless International Corp.,.....Respondent,

v.

RECO Commercial Systems, LLC f/k/a RECO USA and Dunbar Road, LLC,.....Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Joey R. Floyd, SC Bar No. 8491
Bruner, Powell, Wall & Mullins, LLC
Post Office Box 61110
Columbia, South Carolina 29260
(803) 252-7693
jfloyd@brunerpowell.com

Chelsea J. Clark, SC Bar No. 102211
Gargiulo / Rudnick, LLP
766 Falmouth Rd., Suite A-6

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

ARGUMENT

Respondent is owed the return of its deposit. Appellants do not dispute that the refund is owed—only that they should be the ones to pay it. The law does not give credence to the reasons Appellants put forward to support the contention that they do not owe a refund for a deposit paid to the company they purchased. Appellants explicitly bought the deposit when they bought the company—that fact is in black and white in the asset purchase agreement. (R. pp. 221-222.) If Appellants believe that the funds (or the benefit of the funds) were not transferred to them by the sellers of the business, that matter must be resolved between those parties. As the Trial Court found, there is no valid excuse for Appellants not to refund the deposit that Limitless made.

I. The Trial Court correctly granted summary judgment to Respondent.

As a matter of law, Appellants purchased the deposits paid to RECO by Limitless. The APA is clear on this point. When a contract is unambiguous, the issue can be properly decided on summary judgment. *See Middleborough Horizontal Property Regime Council of Co-Owners v.*

Montedison S.p.A., 465 S.E.2d 765, 771, 320 S.C. 470, 477 (Ct. App. 1995) (citing *Lyles v. BMI, Inc.*, 292 S.C. 153, 355 S.E.2d 282 (Ct. App. 1987)) (“The construction and enforcement of an unambiguous contract is a question of law for the court, and thus can be properly disposed of at summary judgment.”). Rather, than abide by the self-evident language of the APA as a matter of law, Appellants seek to create issues of fact where none lie.

a. Where there are no genuine issues of material fact, summary judgment must be granted.

Notably, Appellants have not argued that the money is not due and owing to Respondents—instead they argue it is owed by someone else. The law in South Carolina has long held that unless there is an explicit forfeiture, liquidated damages, or non-refundable provision included in a contract, a deposit must be refunded. *See Graham v. Nesmith*, 24 S. C. 285, 286 (1886) (forfeiture clause allowed keeping deposit); *see generally Tate v. Le Master*, 231 S.C. 429, 99 S.E.2d 39 (1957) (affirming refund to plaintiff for down payment paid under oral contract). Even if there is such a clause, a refund may still be dictated if the clause amounts to an unenforceable penalty out of proportion with the probable damage. *See Lewis v. Premium Inv. Corp.*, 351 S.C. 167, 172, 568 S.E.2d 361, 363 (2002). The fact that the money should be returned cannot be disputed.

b. Appellants clearly purchased the deposit Respondent paid.

The only question put to the Trial Court was whether the refund is owed by Appellants. The APA entered into by Appellants when they took over RECO clearly and specifically answers that question.

1.1 Purchase and Sale of Purchased Assets. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement . . . the Purchaser shall purchase . . . and the Seller shall sell . . . all of the Seller’s assets and properties of every kind, other than the Excluded Assets . . . , including without limitation the following:

- (i) all sale orders, customer orders, open bids, warranties, prepaid expenses, deposits, retentions and refunds

(R. pp. 221-222)

This language could not be any clearer: Appellants purchased “prepaid expenses, deposits, retentions and refunds.” Respondent paid a deposit. Appellants bought that deposit and owe a refund. Appellants complain that it is myopic to focus on this contract language, but the fact is, it is the applicable language, specifically addressing the issue at hand. To decline to apply it would violate the rules of contract law. A contract can only be considered ambiguous when it may fairly and reasonably be understood in more ways than one. *Jordan v. Security Group, Inc.*, 311 S.C. 227, 230, 428 S.E.2d 705, 707 (1993) (citing *Farr v. Duke Power Co.*, 265 S.C. 356, 218 S.E.2d 431 (1975)). “Where the language of a contract is plain and capable of legal construction, that language alone determines the instrument’s force and effect.” *Id.* (citing *Blakeley v. Rabon*, 266 S.C. 68, 221 S.E.2d 767 (1976)).

Appellants argue in their brief that the APA was by its terms “a limited transaction involving the purchase of only limited assets” (Final Brief of Appellants, p. 6.) However, this is belied by the plain language of the agreement, which is structured to include everything but a list of excluded items. ((R. p. 221.) (“the Purchaser shall purchase from the Seller . . . all of the Seller’s assets and properties of every kind, other than the Excluded Assets”). Indeed, this is reiterated a second time in the agreement, which has a catchall for purchase of “all other assets used in the Business that are not Excluded Assets.” (R. p. 222.) This is not a limited agreement, but rather a broad agreement structured on a model of specific exclusion and general inclusion. However, the APA nonetheless also explicitly includes the deposits, like that at issue in this case. Moreover, nowhere in the excluded assets list does it include customer orders, refunds, or deposits, like those listed in the purchased assets. (See R. pp. 222-223.)

Indeed, even should the contract be considered ambiguous, there are still a number of reasons that the more specific provision would prevail over the general provisions argued by Appellants. For instance, Appellants attempt to argue that the deposit at issue is actually “indebtedness” excluded by the APA, but this argument ignores that the definition of indebtedness does not address deposits. The plain language definition of indebtedness clearly refers to debt based upon borrowing or using credit and does not address customer orders or deposits.

Indebtedness is defined in the contract as “(i) all principal, interest, fees, expenses, premiums, payments and other obligations in respect of borrowed money, notes, bonds, debentures and other debt securities, guarantees, interest rate, currency or other hedging arrangements, capital leases, letters of credit, deferred purchase price for services or assets (other than trade payables incurred in the ordinary course of business and part of the Assumed Liabilities), shareholder loans, and/or installment purchases incurred by the Seller prior to the Closing, or required to be paid in order to discharge fully all such amounts as of the Closing and (ii) all accounts payable outstanding in excess of sixty (60) days, all deferred revenue and all credit card payables, in each case as of immediately prior to the closing.

(R. pp. 225-226.)

Further, it is inaccurate for Appellants to suggest that the deposit should be considered as a liability under Section 1.3 and 1.4 of the contract. The APA does not refer to customer orders as “contracts;” but rather actually uses the terms “sale orders, customer orders, [or] open bids.” (*Compare* APA ¶ 1.1(f) (addressing rights under contracts) *with* ¶ 1.1(i) (addressing customer orders, R. p. 222.). If the contract intended to exclude any liability for refunding customer deposits, it would say so, just like it includes deposits as an asset. Appellants attempt to fill that clear omission in the contract, by using “indebtedness” but that term, as defined, also does not include order deposits. Resorting to inapplicable, general terms does not change the plain language of the contract as it concerns deposits.

c. The Lower Court reached the correct result.

In arguing this case, Appellants assert that the deposit alchemized from a deposit to a liability.⁴ However, Appellants fail to acknowledge that the deposit just as likely turned into the assets they purchased, including “all tangible assets” such as equipment or computers, all inventories, including “work in process” and “raw materials,” and “all other assets used in the Business.” At the motion hearing on this matter, Appellants’ counsel told the Court that Appellants did not purchase the deposit as an asset in the APA. When asked, “How do you know?” Appellants’ then-counsel answered, “Based on the conversations with my client[.]”. (R. p. 502-503) The statements of an attorney during oral argument are not admissible evidence. *Ex Parte Morris*, 624 S.E.2d 649, 653, 367 S.C. 56, 64 (2006) (citing *McManus v. Bank of Greenwood*, 171 S.C. 84, 89, 171 S.E. 473, 475 (1933) and *S.C. Dept. of Transp. v. Thompson*, 357 S.C. 101, 105, 590 S.E.2d 511, 513 (Ct. App. 2003)). Appellants may not survive a motion for summary judgment if they do not put forth evidence of a genuine issue. *See* Rule 56(e), SCRCF (when a summary judgment motion is made an adverse party may not simply assert denials but must show a genuine issue for trial). “I would like to try to be able to figure out” where the checks went is not sufficient evidence to survive summary judgment, particularly when Appellants purchased “all Seller data and information,” including all “books and records, technical data, financial, accounting and operating data, . . . sales and promotional data, advertising materials, credit information, [and] cost and pricing information, customer, supplier and service provider lists,” among other things. (R. p. 505 and p. 222.) Justice is meant to be efficient, but in this case Appellants had to be compelled to provide discovery and yet still could not provide any evidence

⁴ This argument is based on upon a request for the funds to be returned prior to Appellants’ purchase of the company. The fact that the sellers did not pay back the deposit at the time is just further evidence that the deposit was one of the assets to be transferred to Appellant via the APA.

refuting the evidence laid out before the Trial Court. (See R. p. 16, 05/06/2025 Order (order requiring Defendants to produce the bank records relevant to the check deposits or affidavit showing lack of access)).

Appellants' contention in their brief that the order denying the motion to dismiss recognized a "disagreement among the parties regarding the contours of Appellants' Asset Purchase Agreement" is simply wrong. (Final Brief of Appellants, p. 4.) What the Lower Court found when denying the motion to dismiss was that "plaintiff has requested the purchase agreement, which the defendants have failed to provide." (R. p. 22.) After Respondents finally received a copy of the asset purchase agreement, they presented it to the Trial Court in arguing Respondent's motion for summary judgment, at which time it was first reviewed by the Trial Court. The Trial Court evidently found no ambiguity. Specifically, Judge McGee stated at the hearing "[the APA] says that it purchased the deposits. This is a deposit." (R. p. 516.).

The entry of summary judgment is only premature if a party can demonstrate that the time had for discovery was insufficient and that additional discovery would turn up a genuine issue for trial and not merely be a fishing expedition. See *Dawkins v. Fields*, 354 S.C. 58, 69, 580 S.E.2d 433,439 (2003). In this case, Appellants delayed discovery by forcing a motion to compel. (R. p. 450.) Further, Appellants should not even need discovery to locate and examine the data they explicitly purchased in APA. (R. p. 222.) The order granting summary judgment was filed on July 24, 2025, nearly a full year after the complaint was filed in the case. (R. p. 10.). There is no reason Appellants could not have conducted any desired discovery during this time. Indeed, this order was entered two and a half months after Appellants had been court-ordered to search for related banking records. (R. p. 16.) The Lower Court even allowed additional briefing after the motion hearing to ensure that all parties had a full and fair airing of their evidence and arguments.

(R. p. 13.) The fact is that any further paper trail would not change the outcome of the motion: Appellants purchased the deposit and the deposit is due and owing to Respondent. Any dispute between the purchaser and seller of the deposit is a matter for them to resolve between themselves. The rules of contract construction are not needed when a contract is unambiguous, as is the case here—a deposit is a deposit.

[remainder of page intentionally blank]

CONCLUSION

There is no prematurity and no ambiguity in this. Appellants had every opportunity to defend their position in this matter but instead held up discovery. The contract which was eventually produced shows by its plain language that Appellants purchased the deposit paid by Respondent. The Lower Court correctly found that the Appellants should refund the remaining balance of that deposit. For these reasons, Respondent asks that this Honorable Court affirm the order of the Lower Court granting summary judgment.